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(Summary Cal endar)

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
ver sus
SHELBY DANI ELS,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Northern District of Texas

June 21, 1993
Bef ore GARWOOD, JONES, and EMLIO M GARZA, G rcuit Judges.

PER CURI AM *

Shel by Daniels was convicted of one count of bank fraud,
pursuant to his guilty plea, in violation of 18 U S C § 1344
(1988). Finding that Daniels's fraudulent schene involved an
intended | oss of over $350,000.00, the district court increased
Dani el s's base offense level by 9, resulting in a final offense
| evel of 17. Dani el s contends that the district court erred in
determ ning the anount of the intended | oss. Finding no clear

error, we affirm

Local Rule 47.5.1 provides: "The publication of opinions
t hat have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases
on the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess
expense on the public and burdens on the legal profession.™
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



Daniels entered into a schene i n which he obtained a "point of
sale" credit card termnal belonging to Sammy Aycock, one of the
proprietors of a pawn shop located in Dallas, Texas. Nor mal | vy,
Har bri dge Merchant Services ("Harbridge") would accept credit card
transactions from Aycock for paynent by Mstercard and Visa, and
then deposit the dollar anpbunts in Aycock's bank account at East
Park National Bank. Daniels's schene involved entering nunerous
fraudul ently obtained credit card access nunbers in order to nmake
fraudul ent credit card transactions.! Daniels planned to have the
money deposited in Aycock's account and have Aycock w thdraw t he
money and deliver it to him Har bri dge di scovered the schene
before Daniels could obtain the noney.

Daniels pled guilty to one count of bank fraud, in violation
of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1344 (1988). In determ ning Daniels's offense | evel
for the purpose of sentencing, the probation officer recomended
that the district court increase Daniels's base offense | evel by 9,
based on his finding that Daniels intended to cause a |oss of
$359, 117. 62. See Presentence Report ("PSR') at 4, 6; see also
USSG 8§ 2F1.1(b)(1)(J) (directing courts to increase a
defendant's offense level by 9, if the | oss exceeds $350, 000. 00);
8§ 2F1.1, comment. (n.7) (directing courts to use intended |oss

figure, if it is greater than the actual loss).? Daniels objected

. The credit card nunbers were apparently obtained through
the use of a fornmula, beginning with a known active card nunber.
See Record on Appeal, vol. 1, at 61

2 See United States Sentencing Conm ssion, Guidelines
Manual (Nov. 1991).
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to this intended |loss figure, arguing that he only intended to
cause a loss of $115,711.52, which should have resulted in only a
6-1 evel increase to his base offense level. The district court
overrul ed Daniels's objection, and sentenced Daniels to 27 nonths
i nprisonment and 5 years supervi sed rel ease based upon the anount
of intended | oss contained in the PSR 3

Dani el s's sol e argunent on appeal is that the district court
erred in determning the anmount of the intended |oss. See Brief
for Daniels at 6-10. W review the district court's factual
finding for clear error. United States v. Shipley, 963 F. 2d 56, 58
(5th CGr.), cert. denied, = US __ , 113 S. C. 348, 121 L. Ed.
2d 263 (1992). The district court may rely upon information
contained in the PSR in making factual sentencing determ nations
"so long as the information has sone mninmm indicium of
reliability.” 1d. (quoting United States v. Vela, 927 F.2d 197
201 (5th Gir.), cert. denied, ___ US. __, 112 S. C. 214, 116 L.
Ed. 2d 172 (1991)).

In determ ning the anount of the intended |oss, the district
court relied upon information contained in the PSR, which stated
that Daniels intended to cause a | oss of $359,117.62. This figure
was reported by David Cark, a Secret Service agent who

i nvestigated Dani el s. See PSR at 4. Clark also reported that

Har bri dge coul d have subm tted verification docunents proving that

3 The PSR s cal cul ati ons, as adopted by the district court,
produced an offense level of 17, which together with a crimna
hi story category of |, yielded a sentenci ng guideline range of 24-

30 nonths inprisonnent. See Record on Appeal, vol. 3, at 6; PSR at
6- 7.
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$359, 117.62 was approved and ready to be released to Daniels
t hrough Aycock. See Addendumto PSR at 2.4 W therefore concl ude
that the intended | oss anount contai ned in the PSR had nore than a
m ni mumindi ciumof reliability, and could therefore be used by the
district court in nmaking factual sentencing determ nations.

Dani el s maintains that he did not intend to cause a | oss of
$359, 117. 62 because: (a) sone of the transactions he submtted
through the termnal were done only to check the validity of the
credit card nunbers; and (b) sone of the credit cards had limts
wel | below the amounts indicated by the transactions. See Brief
for Daniels at 7-8. W reject these argunents because we have
previously held that courts may | ook at the victins' "risk of | oss”
in determining the anount of the intended |oss, pursuant to
US S G 8§ 2F1.1, comment. (n.7). United States v. Mrdi, No. 92-
1675, slip op. at 8-9 (5th Gr. April 21, 1993) (citing United
States v. Wnbish, 980 F.2d 312, 316 (5th Gr. 1992), cert. denied,

~uSsS __, S . __,6lUSLW 3732 (May 17, 1993) and
United States v. Hooten, 933 F. 2d 293, 298 (5th Cr. 1991)). Here,
a Harbridge representative indicated that $359, 117. 62 was approved
and ready to be released to the defendant. See Addendumto PSR at
2. Therefore, the risk of loss was for the entire $359, 117. 62.
Because the information relied upon by the district court

j udge))whi ch indicated that the risk of loss fromDaniels's schene

4 Mor eover, the factual resune submtted by the Governnent,
and signed by Daniels, stated that Dani el s engaged i n 95 fraudul ent
credit card transactions in the anount of $359,117.62. See Record
on Appeal, vol. 1, at 56-58.
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exceeded $350,00.00))had sufficient indicia of reliability to
support its use during sentencing, we hold that the district court
did not clearly err in determning the i ntended | oss. Accordingly,

the district court's judgnent is AFFI RVED



